RECEIVED

Jan 10 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal From Sumter County
Hon. Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2021-001493

The State,

Petitioner,

v.

James Caleb Williams,

Respondent.

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. A majority of the Court of Appeals erred in reversing Williams' convictions for attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime finding the trial court should have granted a directed verdict because transferred intent does not apply to this charge of attempted murder. The Court erred in finding any issue related to transferred intent preserved for review on appeal. Additionally, transferred intent can apply to a charge of attempted murder and this Court should grant certiorari to make that determination. Finally, the Court of Appeals committed clear legal error in finding directed verdict should be granted because Williams was acquitted of the attempted murder of Myers when an acquittal on one charge is entirely irrelevant to a determination of whether a judge properly denied a motion for directed verdict and allowed a charge to go forward to the jury.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On March 17, 2016, the Sumter County Grand Jury indicted Williams for two counts of attempted murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. On July 17–19, 2017 Williams proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Howard King. The jury found Williams guilty of one count of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission a violent crime but acquitted him of the remaining charge. The trial judge sentenced to fifteen years' incarceration, suspended upon the service of ten years' imprisonment and five years' probation.

After briefing and oral argument, two judges of the Court of Appeals issued an opinion reversing Williams' convictions and sentences finding an issue related to transferred intent was preserved, transferred intent could not apply to attempted murder, and because Williams was acquitted of the attempted murder of one victim directed verdict had to be granted as to the other. Judge Huff issued a dissent in which he found the issue not properly preserved for review on appeal, found evidence existed which warranted sending the charge to the jury, and found transferred intent can apply to an attempted murder charge. The State served and filed a Petition for Rehearing, which was denied.

Factual Background

The State's Evidence

On May 2, 2015, fifteen-year-old Ashley R. (Victim) attended a teenager-friendly party at Club Cream in Sumter County. Around 2:00 a.m., she exited the club and was walking to a car in the parking lot when she heard people say "fight, gun, shooting." Victim then heard

gunshots. As she looked around, she noticed Malik Myers return gunfire after the unknown gunman fired his first two or three shots. Around the time she heard a fifth gunshot, Victim felt a bullet enter her leg. She started to flee and blacked out. When she woke, she discovered club security and another man had placed her in the club until medical help arrived. Victim was taken to the hospital and the bullet was removed from her leg. Victim described Myers to investigating officers and told them he was one of the men involved in the shooting. A few days later, Myers contacted Victim and apologized for the shooting. (R.p.68, line 7–R.p.88, line 21).

Chelsea Rogers, Myers' then-girlfriend, was also at Club Cream the night of the shooting. Rogers exited the club with Myers following behind her. As she got to her vehicle, she heard a gunshot erupt from a nearby grassy area. At the moment, she saw Myers and observed he was not holding a gun. He ran away from the gunfire but towards a nearby group of his friends. Shortly thereafter, she heard several gunshots erupt from the area to which Myers ran. (R.p.36, line 24–R.p.53, line 18).

Myers, who pled guilty to assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) for his actions in that night's shooting, also testified. He admitted he submitted a written statement to police on May 4, 2015, in which he described the events of that night. According to Myers, he had a longstanding feud with Williams. When he ran into Williams that night, the latter made gun gestures with his hands, implying he was going to shoot Myers. As Myers left the club, he retrieved his gun, a .38 revolver, from his friend because he expected "anything" could happen. After hearing the initial gunfire and realizing Williams was the culprit shooting at him, Myers returned fire, emptying all six rounds of his revolver. Myers claimed five of his bullets hit the car Williams was using at the time. A friend drove Myers to the hospital where he

received treatment for a gunshot wound to his leg. Myers noted a girl, later identified as Victim, was shot by Williams. (R.p.54, line 3–R.p.66, line 23; R.pp.308–09).

Officer Joseph Jones with the Sumter Police Department was one of the first officers to arrive at scene of the shooting. A Springfield XD pistol and several shell casing were located in a grassy area near the club, which were photographed and marked for investigating detectives. Officer Jones noted officers did not find any revolver shell casings that night, but that was to be expected because revolvers do not discharge spent shell casings. Former Detective Jacob Mitchell collected evidence at the club that night, including the Springfield pistol and the spent bullet casings. (R.p.19, line 4–R.p.35, line 23; R.p.94, line 10–R.p.107, line 23).

Michelle Eichenmiller, a firearms examiner with SLED, analyzed the Springfield pistol and the other ballistics evidence collected by law enforcement. She determined: (1) the Springfield was a .40 gun manufactured by Smith and Wesson; (2) the Springfield pistol produced all the shell casings found at the scene of the crime; (3) the bullet found in Victim could have been fired by the Springfield pistol because it had similar markings and grooves to a test round fired by Eichenmiller, but the physical results of her testing were not clear enough that she could definitively claim it was; and (4) a .38 weapon could likely not have fired the bullet that hit Victim because the type of ammunition was too large for that caliber of weapon. (R.p.110, line 7–R.p.124, line 13).

Detective Nathalie Kelly, another officer with the Sumter Police Department, spoke with Williams after the time and received his written statement. In both his written statement and his conversation with her, Williams claimed: (1) he bumped into Myers in the club and knew a physical confrontation was going to occur; (2) both men were armed; (3) he fired his gun, but stated he fired the weapon into the back of his own vehicle so that it would “look like” he was

shooting at Myers; and (4) he threw his gun under a tree when he saw security. During his interview, he admitted to Detective Kelly the Springfield pistol recovered by police was the gun he used that night. Detective Kelly also testified she was the officer who received Myers' written statement, the same one presented during his trial testimony. (R.p.125, line 15–R.p.158, line 17; R.pp.306–09).

Williams' Evidence

Qawiyy McFadden, the person shot by Myers, testified he and another friend were hanging out with Williams the night of the incident. He claimed that when the shooting started, he was standing outside the vehicle and was hit in the ear by one of the first five shots fired, within the first ten seconds of the incident. He did not see Williams shooting, but admitted he did not see anyone who was shooting. (R.p.164, line 8–R.p.171, line 22).

Amanda Snap, a crime scene investigator with the Sumter Police Department, testified she searched and photographed Williams' vehicle a few weeks after the crime. She noted that five bullets hit the rear vehicle, all of which travelled diagonally downwards from a heightened position, entering around the roof line of the car. (R.p.172, line 12–R.p.177, line 6).

Williams' testimony largely corroborated the State's case. He admitted to attending the event at Club Cream that night and bumping into Myers, with whom he had a long-standing feud which originated in middle school. He knew something was "about to happen" with him and went to his vehicle upon exiting the club and retrieved his gun. He claimed Myers began shooting first and he responded by shooting into his own vehicle to make it appear as if he was shooting at Myers. When Williams saw a security guard approaching, he ran off and threw his Springfield pistol under a nearby tree. (R.p.178, line 6–R.p.186, line 24).

On cross-examination, Williams admitted all the shell casing found came from his weapon, and that he was not sure whether every shot he fired from his gun went into his car; he conceded he fired six bullets that night, at least one of those bullets did not enter the car, and that Myers used a revolver that night. Williams, for the first time, also claimed there was at least one additional shooter at the scene, despite making no assertions of such in his prior statements to police or during his direct examination. (R.p.187, line 12–R.p.209, line 16).

Directed Verdict Motion

After the State presented its case-in-chief, trial counsel moved for a directed verdict on all charges, claiming the State could not conclusively prove Williams shot Myers or Victim because neither witness testified, with certainty, as to who shot them nor did the ballistics evidence guaranty Williams' gun fired the bullet which hit Victim. His motion focused solely on identity and did not reference in any way a specific intent to kill or any other elements of attempted murder. In response, the State argued: (1) Williams admitted to carrying and using his gun that night; (2) multiple witnesses testified Williams was the initial shooter; (3) in his statement to police, Williams admitted there was bad blood between him and Myers; (4) Williams' decision to arm himself after his confrontation in the club with Myers showed malice aforethought; the evidence showed the bullet which hit Victim likely came from Williams gun and most likely could not have been fired by Myers' weapon; and (5) Williams' intent to kill Myers transferred to Victim. The trial judge denied the motion, finding "competent" evidence in the record, consisting of both direct and circumstantial evidence, that: (1) Williams fired first, and (2) Williams intended to kill Myers. He further found Williams' intent to kill Myers transferred to Victim. (R.p.159, line 22–R.p.162, line 13). Counsel for Williams said nothing in response to the mention of transferred intent as a means of establishing specific intent to kill.

At the close of the defense's case, trial counsel renewed his motion for a directed verdict based on the same arguments presented. Again, the trial judge denied the motion because there was ample evidence in the record from which a jury could find Williams' guilt. (R.p.212, line 11-R.p.213, line 3).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in reversing Williams' convictions for attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime finding the trial court should have granted a directed verdict because transferred intent does not apply to this charge of attempted murder. The Court erred in finding any issue related to transferred intent preserved for review on appeal. Additionally, transferred intent can apply to a charge of attempted murder and this Court should grant certiorari to make that determination. Finally, the Court of Appeals committed clear legal error in finding directed verdict should be granted because Williams was acquitted of the attempted murder of Myers when an acquittal on one charge is entirely irrelevant to a determination of whether a judge properly denied a motion for directed verdict and allowed a charge to go forward to the jury.

Reason for Granting Certiorari

According to the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, though not controlling, certain criteria indicate whether certiorari will be considered. Of the five reasons listed the first two apply in the present case. A novel question of law exists and there exists a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals. See Rule 242(b), SCACR.

The issue of transferred intent as it applies to attempted murder has been before the Court of Appeals on numerous occasions with different outcomes. State v. Williams, 422 S.C. 525, 812 S.E.2d 917 (Ct. App. 2018)(transferred intent doctrine could be applied to attempted murder of intended and unintended victims, even though no victim was injured); State v. Smith, 425 S.C. 20, 819 S.E.2d 187 (Ct. App. 2018)(defendant's intentional use of deadly force firing a pistol at rival gang members which resulted in injury to an unintended victim supported defendant's conviction for attempted murder); State v. Williams, 2021 WL 2944778 (Ct. App. 2021)(this case finding doctrine of transferred intent inapplicable to this charge of attempted murder); State v. Geter, 2021 WL 3641733 (Ct. App. 2021)(doctrine of transferred intent was inapplicable to attempted murder); and State v. Bessellieu, 2021 WL 5355632 (Ct. App. 2021)(the evidence

overwhelmingly supports convictions for four counts of attempted murder and any error in charging transferred intent was harmless).

There have been previous cases presented before this Court but this issue has yet to be addressed.¹ Petitioner submits that a failure to address this issue continues to result in lower courts applying varying opinions as to how transferred intent should be applied to attempted murder; thereby, leading to more confusion as to the law regarding this issue. This is a matter that should no longer be left to the lower court's interpretation and should be addressed by this Court.

Consideration of the Merits of Court of Appeals Opinion

The majority of the Court of Appeals erred in even addressing the issue of transferred intent when it was never raised to the trial court and never presented as a basis for the grant of a directed verdict motion. Additionally, the majority erred in finding transferred intent cannot and should not apply in attempted murder. Finally, the majority erred in relying on Williams' acquittal of charges related to a second victim as a basis for reversing the denial of a motion for directed verdict.

Preservation

Initially, this Court should find the Court of Appeals erred in addressing any issue related to transferred intent when it was never raised to the trial court as a basis for the grant of the motion for directed verdict and the sole basis provided related to the identity of the shooter and not whether a specific intent to kill existed.

¹ State v. Williams, 427 S.C. 148, 829 S.E.2d 702 (2019) (“we vacate the portion of the opinion dealing with issue of transferred intent and save for another day the determination of whether the doctrine applies to attempted murder.”); State v. Smith, 430 S.C. 226, 845 S.E.2d 495 (2020) n.9 (“We need not address this issue because the prior issue are dispositive.”)

As noted by the dissent, the only issue preserved on appeal is whether the trial court erred in denying Williams' motion for directed verdict as related to his charge of attempted murder of Ashley R. When making his directed verdict motion, trial counsel argued "[he] certainly d[id]n't think the [S]tate had met its burden beyond a reasonable doubt" because both Myers and Ashley R. could not say "conclusively" who shot them. (R.p.159, line 20–R.p.160, line 11). The State responded by explaining there was "strong evidence" the bullet which hit Ashley R. was fired from Williams' gun and added the State was proceeding under the theory of transferred intent in regard to the attempted murder charge for Ashley R. (R.p.160, line 12–R.p.161, line 6). The trial judge acknowledged this was the State's theory of the case and Williams failed to contest the applicability of transferred intent to that charge. (R.p.161, line 7–R.p.163, line 2).

At no time during the motion, or more specifically after the State and trial judge mentioned transferred intent, did Williams raise any issue regarding the failure to establish a specific intent to kill because transferred intent cannot apply. As a matter of fact, he never suggested to the trial court that transferred intent could not apply in this case or that it should not be considered in this case.

The majority of the Court of Appeals improperly ignored the clear preservation issues presented by the Record before it. Although the majority opinion acknowledges Williams failed to argue the impropriety of transferred intent at trial, it brushes the issue aside by noting the State did not raise the issue of preservation in its brief and this omission by the State somehow implies the "obscurity" of the issue. (*citing Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 332–33, 730 S.E.2d 282, 287 (2012))("When the opposing party does not raise a preservation issue on appeal, courts are not precluded from finding the issue unpreserved if the error is clear. However, the silence of an adversary should serve as an indicator to the court of the obscurity of

the purported procedural flaw.”)(Toal, C.J., concurring in result in part and dissenting in part)). In Lewis, then-Chief Justice Toal observed this finding was based on two aspects of the case: (1) her belief the majority “scour[ed] the records before [it]” for the purpose of finding a preservation issue; and (2) “the question of preservation [was] subject to multiple interpretations,” and in such a situation “doubt should be resolved in favor of preservation.” However, this issue is not one of obscurity: as noted above, Williams never challenged the doctrine of transferred intent at trial. Because the trial judge was never given any facts, law, or even arguments challenging the propriety of transferred intent to his case, the issue was waived. See State v. Porter, 389 S.C. 27, 37–38, 698 S.E.2d 237, 242. (Ct. App. 2010). As noted by the majority in Lewis, “While it may be good practice for us to reach the merits of an issue when error preservation is doubtful, we should follow our **longstanding precedent** and resolve the issue on preservation grounds when it clearly is unpreserved.” Lewis, 398 S.C. at 330, 730 S.E.2d at 285 (emphasis added).

As the dissent correctly noted:

“The general rule of issue preservation is if an issue was not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, it will not be considered for the first time on appeal.” State v. Porter, 389 S.C. 27, 37, 698 S.E.2d 237, 242 (Ct. App. 2010). “Imposing this preservation requirement is meant to enable the trial court to rule properly after it has considered all the relevant facts, law, and arguments.” Id. at 38, 698 S.E.2d at 242. An appellate court is limited by appellate rules that allow the court to consider only the precise question that was before the trial court and ruled upon by the court. State v. Whitten, 375 S.C. 43, 47, 649 S.E.2d 505, 507 (Ct. App. 2007). “[E]rror preservation has been a critical part of appellate practice in this State for a long time, serving to ensure . . . that we do not reach issues which were not ruled upon by the trial court.” Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012). “Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Id. (quoting Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood

Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006)).

State v. Williams, Op. No. 5835 (Filed July 14, 2021)(Huff, J., dissenting). This Court should agree with the well-reasoned and correct opinion of Judge Huff, grant the petition for writ of certiorari, and find any issue related to transferred intent is not preserved for review on appeal.

Merits

The majority of the Court of Appeals erred in finding the trial judge should have granted Williams' motion for a directed verdict as to the attempted murder of the victim. This Court should grant the petition for writ of certiorari, find transferred or concurrent intent can apply to an attempted murder charge, and find the trial court in this case properly denied the motion for directed verdict.

First and foremost, the issue raised in Williams' directed verdict motion was whether the State established the identity of the shooter, not the intended victim. The State notes that it is undisputed in the record that Williams was armed and fired at least six bullets from his gun during the incident. Williams himself admitted such in his written statement to police and during his trial testimony. The only questions at trial were who initiated the attack, whether Williams intended to murder Myers, and whether Williams was the individual who shot Victim. The State presented a combination of direct and circumstantial evidence answering each of these questions in the affirmative.

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