STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Sumter County
Honorable Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5835 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed July 14, 2021)
Lower Court Case No. 2015-GS-43-0655

THE STATE,

PETITIONER,

V.

JAMES CALEB WILLIAMS,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001493

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

Mar 02 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Procedural history

Respondent was indicted by the Sumter County Grand Jury for the offenses of two counts of attempted murder, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 310 – 312. Respondent's case was called to trial on July 17, 2017, before the Honorable Howard King, and a jury. Calvin Hasty represented respondent. Tyler Brown was the assistant solicitor.

On July 19, 2017, the jury found respondent guilty of the attempted murder of Ashley R., but not guilty of the attempted murder of Malik Myers. The jury also found respondent guilty of possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 303, ll. 6-16. Judge King sentenced respondent to fifteen years imprisonment, suspended upon the service of ten years imprisonment, and five years of probation. R. 304, ll. 7-14.

The Court of Appeals, 2-1, reversed respondent's convictions, in State v. Williams, 435 S.C. 288, 867 S.E.2d 430 (Ct. App. 2021). The state then sought rehearing which was unanimously denied in the order of the Court of Appeals dated November 18, 2021. The state then sought certiorari from this Court.

This return of respondent follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly held the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to direct a verdict on the attempted murder count where the state failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence respondent intended to shoot the victim, or that he shot anyone, and where the court's refusal to grant a verdict based on the inapplicable legal fiction of transferred intent, which did not apply to the crime of attempted murder, was also an error of law.

Introduction

There was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that respondent was the person that shot Ashley R., and absolutely no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that he had any intent to kill her. There was also no evidence that respondent intended to kill the other victim, Malik Myers, during that same course of events, and the jury acquitted respondent of the attempted murder of Myers. R. 303, ll. 6-16. Ashley R. testified for the state during respondent's trial that Malik apologized to her after she was shot. In other words almost all of the inferences from this record were that Ashley was shot -- accidentally. If respondent discharged his gun that night in a negligent or irresponsible manner, the correct charge was not attempted murder. The proper charge fitting the facts of this case was ABHAN.

The state on certiorari twists the above facts out of context to assert error in the Court of Appeals having noted in its opinion that respondent was acquitted by the jury of the attempted murder of Myers since the judge did not know that at the time of the directed verdict motion. That is a nice "gotcha" play, but irrelevant. The only salient points that matter here are that: (1) There was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that respondent shot a gun with the intent to kill Ashley R. or attempted to kill her in any manner whatsoever; and (2) The trial court

erred by considering the legal fiction of transferred intent urged upon it by the solicitor at the directed verdict stage to get beyond issuing a directed verdict since transferred intent was inapplicable to the charged crime of attempted murder.

The remainder of the state's arguments are superfluous when determining if a directed verdict should have been issued for respondent as to the crime of attempted murder of Ashley R. since there was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence respondent intended to shoot and kill Ashley that night, and the doctrine of transferred intent was not applicable to the crime of attempted murder.

If respondent discharged his gun that night in a negligent or irresponsible manner, the correct charge was not attempted murder. The proper charge fitting the facts of this case was ABHAN.

Relevant Facts

Lead Corporal Joseph Jones was dispatched to a shooting in the area of the Club Cream in Sumter -- at a "teen party" -- in the early morning hours of May 2, 2015. R. 19, l. 4 – 23, l. 24. Jones remembered that reserve officer Steve Bickford "happened to be in the area right there on Rast Street, Bultman Street area of Club Cream . . . where he was staying at and saw a bunch of people running from the parking lot. . . ." R. 22, ll. 16-26. Fifteen-year-old Ashley R. was crying. She had been shot in the leg. R. 23, l. 26 – 24, l. 8.

A large "group of people" was outside, and "EMS was on the way to pick up Ms. R. . . ." R. 24, ll. 13-19. Jones found six shell casings around the scene. Only one gun, a Springfield .40 caliber pistol was found in the area, even though it was undisputed there was more than one person shooting a gun in the area. R. 34, ll. 4-23.

As will be seen infra, it was undisputed that Malik Myers was also shooting his gun in the area that night. Respondent would later testify that Malik and respondent were not the only persons who fired a gun that evening in the parking lot at the teen club. R. 194, l. 23 – 197, l. 21. Defense counsel renewed his motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the defense case following respondent’s testimony. R. 212, l. 13 – 213, l. 19.

Chelsea Rogers was nineteen-years-old at the time of respondent’s trial. R. 37, l. 24 – 38, l. 5. Chelsea admitted she did not want to testify. R. 38, ll. 8-11.

Chelsea nonetheless stated on May 2, 2015, that she went to the Club Cream for a teen party in Sumter. Describing a teen party, Chelsea said: “I guess it’s where a lot of teens get together, you know, have fun, but something bad always ends up happening.” R. 38, ll. 18-21.

Chelsea said that Malik Myers was a friend but he did not go with her to the teen party that night. Chelsea and her friends arrived at the teen party at about eleven o’clock, they were “dancing and having fun” when she saw there was a problem on the other side of the club. R. 39, l. 18 – 40, l. 4.

Chelsea remembered talking to Malik, “and he said he was going to leave with me.” They all walked out of the club. Chelsea was walking to her car, and Malik was a behind her. “When we got over there to the car, I heard a gunshot from over there . . . I heard another gunshot, and then I heard another one come back from where everybody was at.” Chelsea said she did not see Malik with a gun that night, and Malik ran in the opposite direction of the gunfire “to where his friends were.” R. 40, l. 18 – 44, l. 18.

Chelsea acknowledged that the solicitor’s office eventually contacted her mother, and they asked Chelsea to come to the courthouse to see the solicitor. “They wanted me to be a witness to something that happened at the club that night.” R. 48, ll. 3-24. Chelsea repeated that

she wanted no part in this trial. R. 49, ll. 3-4. Chelsea said that she had never even met respondent James Williams. R. 53, ll. 9-17.

Ashley R. was fifteen-years-old at the time of the teen party at the Club Cream on May 2, 2015. R. 68, l. 11 – 69, l. 15. She arrived at the teen party between ten and eleven o'clock. She was still at the club when it was closing at two a.m. R. 69, l. 16 – 70, l. 21.

Ashley remembered after leaving the club that she was going to the nearby McDonalds to “see a fight” between two girls. R. 71, l. 7 – 72, l. 6. While she was walking in the parking lot “up to a car, they said fight, gun, shooting. That’s when -- by the time I could duck down, feel (sic) like a bee sting. I touched my leg, and started to panic.” R. 72, ll. 2-12.

Ashley looked around and she saw Malik Myers. “But I seen him shoot after -- I seen the other like two -- two shots before he shoot (sic), that’s when I duck down . . .” “I seen Malik with a gun, that’s when I heard the -- before he shoot (sic), I heard like two more, two or three gunshots before he shoot. (sic). He shoot. (sic).” R. 72, l. 2 – 73, l. 10.

Ashley estimated four or five shots were fired before she realized she had been shot in the leg and was bleeding. R. 74, l. 9 – 76, l. 4. Ashley was treated at Tuomey Hospital in Sumter. The bullet was removed from her leg. R. 75, l. 19 – 77, l. 14. Ashley told the police that she was shot by an unknown black man. Ashley said that Malik Myers “came to me and apologized to me afterwards. That’s how I get (sic) to know him.” R. 78, ll. 7-17.

On cross-examination, Ashley repeated that Malik Myers apologized to her. Ashley said she was not sure whether Malik was apologizing because he shot her, but Ashley said after Malik apologized, “I said, ‘You good, I’m not mad at you.’ He said, ‘Okay.’” R. 85, l. 12 – 86, l. 7. Ashley said she heard there were at least two people shooting guns that evening. R. 88, ll. 9-13.

Malik Myers testified that he pled guilty to ABHAN for the shooting incident in this case. He was seventeen-years-old at the time of the May 2, 2015 teen party. R. 54, l. 3 – 56, l. 20. Myers essentially disavowed his statement to the police, telling the solicitor, “Man, I just came from a hospital, man. I wasn’t thinking right when I was writing my statement. . . . it wasn’t no altercation. It was just some words.” R. 59, ll. 2-9.

Malik said he had his .38 revolver with him that evening “because anything could have happened after the club.” R. 62, ll. 2-19. As for respondent, Malik Myers said: “I don’t know whether James Williams was shooting or not. I’m just saying -- I -- you telling me -- I just know I got shot. You’re saying he’s the shooter. I’m telling you I didn’t know he was shooting. That’s what this statement said.” R. 65, ll. 2-14. Myers testified he was shot in the leg, and he repeated he did not know if respondent was the person who fired the gun where the bullet ultimately wounded his leg. R. 66, ll. 5-23.

Detective Nathalie Kelly testified that Malik Myers told her that respondent shot at him and hit him in the leg. Malik said: “I pull out the .38 gun I had and shot back.” R. 142, l. 19 – 143, l. 15.

Directed verdict motion

Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict, arguing that the state had failed to prove its case as to the shooting of both Malik Myers and Ashley R. 159, l. 22 – 160, l. 7.

The solicitor argued that the impeachment evidence of Malik Myers and other witnesses revealed respondent shot first. He also claimed there was “strong evidence” that respondent shot Ashley R. “And also **just specifically because he was not shooting directly at Ashley**, I would point out that we’re proceeding **under transferred intent** and we do believe that he was firing his gun with malice and the bullet struck Ashley R.” R. 160, l. 13 – 161, l. 6. (emphasis added).

Immediately after the solicitor asserted that transferred intent was the reason to deny a directed verdict the judge cited Rule 19, SCRCrimP, which mandated that the court determine whether there was “competent” evidence mandating that the case should go to the jury, and he ruled that his recollection of the testimony was that “Mr. Williams, fired first and was firing at both Mr. Malik Myers **and that by transferred intent**, at the other victim [Ashley R.] in the case.” (emphasis added). The judge said there was both direct and circumstantial evidence, and he was therefore not going to direct a verdict. R. 161, l. 10 – 162, l. 13. (emphasis added).

The defense case

During the defense case, Qawiyy McFadden testified that he went to the teen party on May 2, 2015, and he got together with respondent there. R. 164, l. 8 – 165, l. 12.

They left the club at about one a.m., and went to respondent’s Mustang. R. 165, ll. 2-24. McFadden said it was crowded at the club when the shooting occurred. McFadden testified: “I seen everybody coming out of the club, so I got out of the car to see what was the next move for the night. . . the shots started going off when I was out of the club. I seen James go like towards the back of his car and by maybe the first five shots, I was already hit. And I didn’t know what else happened.” McFadden said he did not see respondent shooting when these bullets were flying. R. 166, l. 7 – 169, l. 19.

McFadden was shot in the ear near respondent’s green Mustang. R. 166, l. 7 – 169, l. 19. McFadden stated he was not sure if Malik Myers was charged with shooting him. R. 171, ll. 10-12.

Crime scene investigator Amanda Snapp testified that there appeared to be “five bullet holes in the roof line of [respondent’s] vehicle.” Snapp said there were no bullet holes in the

front of respondent's car, so "I can only imagine that they came from the back of the vehicle, most likely." R. 174, l. 17 – 177, l. 10.

Respondent testified in his own defense. He was nineteen-years-old, and he was only seventeen at the time of the teen party. He was attending Central Carolina University at the time of his trial. R. 178, l. 6 – 180, l. 1.

Respondent left the club about one a.m. that morning. He remembered seeing Malik Myers coming towards his car, and that Malik had a gun. Malik began shooting at respondent, "So that's when I started shooting, and that's when I ran off when I seen the security guard coming, and I threw my gun under the tree." Respondent said that Mailk Myers almost shot him, and McFadden was actually shot. He drove McFadden to Tuomey Hospital early that morning. R. 181, l. 19 – 184, l. 9. Respondent specifically said he did not shoot Ashley R. that night, and he did not intend to shoot anyone. R. 186, ll. 14-24.

Respondent testified on cross-examination that he fired into his own car so that whomever was shooting would think he was serious, and he was not shooting in the air. Respondent admitted he had a black forty caliber Springfield gun that night.¹ R. 194, l. 13 – 195, l. 5. Respondent said he found five bullet casings on top of his car, and the sixth one "I probably shot it into the ground." R. 195, l. 19 – 197, l. 7.

Respondent repeated that Malik Myers shot at him first and he told the solicitor there were more than two people shooting at the time of the incident. R. 197, ll. 8-21.

¹ SLED agent Michelle Eichenmiller testified "in my opinion, those cartridge cases [found at the scene] were fired by the firearm." The firearm was a Springfield model XD .40 Smith and Wesson. R. 117, l. 25 – 118, l. 10. As to the bullet removed from Ashley R.'s leg, the SLED agent could only say that "the comparisons were inconclusive with the test fired bullet from the Springfield and the evidence bullet that was submitted." R. 118, l. 11 – 120, l. 3; R. 122, ll. 12-22. Inconclusive does not rise to the level of substantial circumstantial evidence, and there was no evidence respondent intended to shoot and kill Ashley.

Renewed directed verdict motion

As stated, defense counsel renewed his motion for a directed verdict, and the judge -- again citing Rule 19, SCRCrimP -- said it was his duty to send the attempted murder charges to the jury. R. 212, l. 16 – 213, l. 19.

Court of Appeals opinion

The 2-1 majority of the Court of Appeals (McDonald, J. and Thomas, J.) wrote: “Williams argues the circuit court erred in failing to direct a verdict on the attempted murder charge because the State failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that he had the specific intent to kill anyone—either Myers or Ashley R. He asserts the circuit court erroneously applied the doctrine of transferred intent because the offense of attempted murder requires a specific intent to commit murder. We agree.” State v. Williams, 435 S.C. 288, 867 S.E.2d 430, 433 (Ct. App. 2021).

The majority rejected the dissent’s contention that the transferred intent directed verdict motion issue was not preserved. The majority noted that the solicitor raised transferred intent as a reason to deny the directed verdict motion, and the judge ruled in favor of the state’s legal argument on transferred intent. “The circuit court ruled immediately—giving defense counsel no chance to reply to the State’s argument—citing Rule 19 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure and recollecting its understanding of the testimony that the defendant, Mr. Williams, fired and was firing at both Mr. Malik Myers and that by transferred intent, at the other victim in this case.” State v. Williams, 435 S.C. 288, 867 S.E.2d 430, 433, n. 3. (Ct. App. 2021).

The Court concluded that it found the “[d]octrine of transferred intent inapplicable to this charge of attempted murder. The circuit court erred in denying Williams’s directed verdict

motion because § 16-3-29 requires proof of a specific intent to kill.” State v. Williams, 435 S.C. 288, 867 S.E.2d 430, 436 (Ct. App. 2021).

Discussion

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